NIOSH Skin Notation Profiles Acrylamide



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES Centers for Disease Control and Prevention National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health





NIOSH Skin Notation (SK) Profiles

Acrylamide [CAS No. 79–06–1]

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES Centers for Disease Control and Prevention National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health This document is in the public domain and may be freely copied or reprinted

Disclaimer

Mention of any company or product does not constitute endorsement by the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH). In addition, citations to Web sites external to NIOSH do not constitute NIOSH endorsement of the sponsoring organizations or their programs or products. Furthermore, NIOSH is not responsible for the content of these Web sites.

Ordering Information

To receive this document or information about other occupational safety and health topics, contact NIOSH:

Telephone: **1–800–CDC–INFO** (1–800–232–4636 TTY: 1–888–232–6348 E-mail: cdcinfo@cdc.gov

or visit the NIOSH Web site at www.cdc.gov/niosh

For a monthly update on news at NIOSH, subscribe to *NIOSH eNews* by visiting www. cdc.gov/niosh/eNews.

DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 2011-139

April 2011

SAFER • HEALTHIER • PEOPLE[™]

Foreword

As the largest organ of the body, the skin performs multiple critical functions, such as serving as the primary barrier to the external environment. For this reason, the skin is often exposed to potentially hazardous agents, including chemicals, which may contribute to the onset of a spectrum of adverse health effects ranging from localized damage (e.g., irritant contact dermatitis and corrosion) to induction of immune-mediated responses (e.g., allergic contact dermatitis and pulmonary responses), or systemic toxicity (e.g., neurotoxicity and hepatoxicity). Understanding the hazards related to skin contact with chemicals is a critical component of modern occupational safety and health programs.

In 2009, the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) published *Current Intelligence Bulletin (CIB) 61: A Strategy for Assigning New NIOSH Skin Notations* [NIOSH 2009–147]. This document provides the scientific rationale and framework for the assignment of multiple hazard-specific skin notations (SK) that clearly distinguish between the systemic effects, direct (localized) effects, and immune-mediated responses caused by skin contact with chemicals. The key step within assignment of the hazard-specific SK is the determination of a substance's hazard potential, or its potential for causing adverse health effects as a result of skin exposure. This determination entails a health hazard identification process that involves use of the following:

- Scientific data on the physicochemical properties of a chemical
- Data on human exposures and health effects
- Empirical data from in vivo and in vitro laboratory testing
- Computational techniques, including predictive algorithms and mathematical models that describe a selected process (e.g., skin permeation) by means of analytical or numerical methods.

This Skin Notation Profile provides the SK assignment and supportive data for acrylamide (CAS No. 79-06-1). In particular, this document evaluates and summarizes the literature describing the substance's hazard potential and its assessment according to the scientific rationale and framework outlined in CIB 61. In meeting this objective, this Skin Notation Profile intends to inform the audience—mostly occupational health practitioners, researchers, policy- and decision-makers, employers, and workers in potentially hazardous workplaces—so that improved risk-management practices may be developed to better protect workers from the risks of skin contact with the chemical of interest.

> John Howard, M.D. Director, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Contents

Foreword iii
Abbreviations
Glossary vi
Acknowledgments vii
1 Introduction 1
1.1 General Substance Information 1
1.2 Purpose 1
1.3 Overview of SK Assignment for Acrylamide 2
2 Systemic Toxicity from Skin Exposure (SK: SYS) 2
3 Direct Effect(s) on the Skin (SK: DIR)
4 Immune-mediated Responses (SK: SEN)
5 Summary 7
References
Appendix: Calculation of the SI Ratio for Acrylamide 13
Overview
Calculation
Appendix References

Abbreviations

ACGIH	American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists		
ATSDR	Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry		
CIB	Current Intelligence Bulletin		
cm ²	squared centimeter(s)		
cm/hr	centimeter(s) per hour		
DEREK TM	Deductive Estimation of Risk from Existing Knowledge		
DIR	skin notation indicating the potential for direct effects to the skin following contact with a chemical		
EC	European Commission		
GHS	Globally Harmonized System of Classification and Labeling of Chemicals		
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer		
(IRR)	subnotation of SK: DIR indicating the potential for a chemical to be a skin irritant following exposure to the skin		
K _{aq}	coefficient in the watery epidermal layer		
K _p	skin permeation coefficient		
K _{pol}	coefficient in the protein fraction of the stratum corneum		
K _{psc}	permeation coefficient in the lipid fraction of the stratum corneum		
LD_{50}	dose resulting in 50% mortality in the exposed population		
LD	dermal lethal dose		
LOAEL	lowest-observed-adverse-effect level		
$\log K_{OW}$	base-10 logarithm of a substance's octanol–water partition		
m ³	cubic meter(s)		
mg	milligram(s)		
mg/kg	milligram(s) per kilogram body weight		
mg/m ³	milligram(s) per cubic meter		
mL	milliliter(s)		
mL/kg	milliliter(s) per kilogram body weight		
MW	molecular weight		
NIOSH	National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health		
NOAEL	no-observed-adverse-effect level		
NTP	National Toxicology Program		
OEL	occupational exposure limit		
OSHA	Occupational Safety and Health Administration		
REL	recommended exposure limit		
RF	retention factor		

SEN	skin notation indicating the potential for immune-mediated reactions following exposure of the skin
SI ratio	ratio of skin dose to inhalation dose
SK	skin notation
S_w	solubility
SYS	skin notation indicating the potential for systemic toxicity following exposure of the skin
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency

Glossary

Absorption—The transport of a chemical from the outer surface of the skin into both the skin and systemic circulation (including penetration, permeation, and resorption).

Acute exposure—Contact with a chemical that occurs once or for only a short period of time.

Cancer—Any one of a group of diseases that occurs when cells in the body become abnormal and grow or multiply out of control.

Contaminant—A chemical that is (1) unintentionally present within a neat substance or mixture at a concentration less than 1.0% or (2) recognized as a potential carcinogen and present within a neat substance or mixture at a concentration less than 0.1%.

Cutaneous (or percutaneous)—Referring to the skin (or through the skin).

Dermal—Referring to the skin.

Dermal contact—Contact with (touching) the skin.

Direct effects—Localized, non-immune-mediated adverse health effects on the skin, including corrosion, primary irritation, changes in skin pigmentation, and reduction/ disruption of the skin barrier integrity, occurring at or near the point of contact with chemicals.

Immune-mediated responses—Responses mediated by the immune system, including allergic responses.

Sensitization—A specific immune-mediated response that develops following exposure to a chemical, which, upon re-exposure, can lead to allergic contact dermatitis (ACD) or other immune-mediated diseases such as asthma, depending on the site and route of re-exposure.

Substance—A chemical.

Systemic effects—Systemic toxicity associated with skin absorption of chemicals after exposure of the skin.

Acknowledgments

This document was developed by the Education and Information Division, Paul Schulte, Ph.D., Director. G. Scott Dotson, Ph.D. was the project officer for this document. Other NIOSH personnel, in particular Fredrick H. Frasch, Ph.D., Charles L. Geraci, Ph.D., Thomas J. Lentz, Ph.D., Richard Niemeier, Ph.D., and Angie Shepherd, contributed to its development by providing technical reviews and comments. The basis for this document was a report contracted by NIOSH and prepared by Bernard Gadagbui, Ph.D., and Andrew Maier, Ph.D. (*Toxicology Excellence for Risk Assessment [TERA]*).

For their contribution to the technical content and review of this document, special acknowledgement is given to the following NIOSH personnel:

Denver Field Office Eric Esswein, M.Sc.

Division of Applied Research and Technology Clayton B'Hymer, Ph.D.

Division of Respiratory Disease Studies Gregory A. Day, Ph.D.

Division of Surveillance, Hazard Evaluations, and Field Studies Todd Niemeier, M.Sc. Aaron Sussell, Ph.D. Loren Tapp, M.D.

Education and Information Division Ralph Zumwalde, M.Sc.

Health Effects Laboratory Division Michael Luster, Ph.D. Anna Shvedova, Ph.D. Paul Siegel, Ph.D.

National Personal Protective Technology Laboratory Heinz Ahlers, J.D.

The authors thank Seleen Collins, Gino Fazio, and Vanessa B. Williams for their editorial support and contributions to the design and layout of this document. Clerical and information resources support in preparing this document was provided by Devin Baker, Daniel Echt, and Barbara Landreth.

In addition, special appreciation is expressed to the following individuals for serving as independent, external reviewers and providing comments that contributed to the development or improvement of this document:

G. Frank Gerberick, Ph.D., The Procter and Gamble Company, Cincinnati, Ohio

Dori Germolec, Ph.D., National Toxicology Program, National Institute for Environmental Health Sciences, Research Triangle, North Carolina

Ben Hayes, M.D., Ph.D., Division of Dermatology, Vanderbilt School of Medicine, Nashville, Tennessee

Hasan Mukhtar, Ph.D., Department of Dermatology, School of Medicine and Public Health, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, Wisconsin

Shane Que Hee, Ph.D., Environmental Health Sciences, School of Public Health, University of California, Los Angeles, Los Angeles, California

Jennifer Sahmel, M.Sc., CIH, ChemRisk, Boulder, Colorado

James Taylor, M.D., Industrial Dermatology, The Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, Ohio

1 Introduction

1.1 General Substance Information

Chemical: Acrylamide **CAS No:** 79–06–1 **Molecular weight (***MW***):** 71.08 **Molecular formula:** C₃H₅NO **Structural formula:**



Synonyms:

Acrylamide monomer; Acrylic amide; Propenamide; 2-Propenamide; Propenoic acid amide; Vinyl amide

1.2 Purpose

This Skin Notation Profile presents (1) a brief summary of technical data associated with skin contact with acrylamide and (2) the rationale behind the hazard-specific skin notation (SK) assignment for acryl-amide. The SK assignment is based on the scientific rationale and logic outlined in the Current Intelligence Bulletin (CIB) 61: A Strategy for Assigning New NIOSH Skin Notations [NIOSH 2009]. The summarized information and health hazard assessment are limited to an evaluation of the potential health effects of dermal

Uses:

The primary use of acrylamide is in the production of polyacrylamide polymers [ATSDR 2009]. Secondary applications include use as a chemical intermediate in the production of dyes and organic substances, such as N-methylol acrylamide and N-butoxyacrylamide, and as a binder and retention aid in pulp and paper production. The Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) [2009] reported that in 2006 and 2007 the demand for acrylamide in the United States was 245 and 253 million pounds, respectively.

exposure to acrylamide. A literature search was conducted through July 2010 to identify information on acrylamide, including but not limited to data relating to its toxicokinetics, acute toxicity, repeated-dose systemic toxicity, carcinogenicity, biological system/function—specific effects (including reproductive and developmental effects and immunotoxicity), irritation, and sensitization. Information was considered from studies of humans, animals, or appropriate modeling systems that are relevant to assessing the effects of dermal exposure to acrylamide.

Skin notation	Critical effects	Available data
SK: SYS	Neurotoxicity; reproductive effects	Sufficient human and animal data
SK: DIR (IRR)	Skin irritation; skin tumors (cancer)	Limited human and animal data
SK: SEN	Skin allergy	Limited human data; sufficient animal data

Table 1. Summary of the SK assignment for acrylamide

1.3 Overview of SK Assignment for Acrylamide

Acrylamide is potentially capable of causing numerous adverse health effects following skin contact. A critical review of available data has resulted in the following SK assignment for acrylamide: **SK: SYS-DIR (IRR)-SEN**. Table 1 provides an overview of the critical effects and data used to develop the SK assignment for acrylamide.

2 Systemic Toxicity from Skin Exposure (SK: SYS)

Toxicokinetic studies involving humans and animals following skin exposure to acrylamide were identified. Fennell et al. [2006] applied 3 milligrams per kilogram body weight (mg/kg) of a 50% (weight/ volume) radiolabeled acrylamide solution to an occluded 24-square-centimeter (cm²) patch of skin on the forearm of volunteers; it should be noted that the specific vehicle used within this experiment was not disclosed. The authors stated that 0.73 to 0.86 mg/kg per day (mg/kg/day), or 25% to 29%, of the applied dose was absorbed through the skin. In rats, Sumner et al. [2003] reported, 14% to 30% of the applied dose of acrylamide was absorbed, with a mean of approximately 21%, when these animals were treated with an occluded dermal dose of 162 mg/kg [^{2,3-14}C]labeled acrylamide in distilled water. The authors reported that acrylamide was distributed throughout the test animals' bodies following the 24-hour dermal exposure period; the locations of highest concentrations of acrylamide (excluding treatment site) were as follows: blood cells > skin at nondosing sites > liver, spleen, testes, and kidneys > lungs, thymus, brain, and epididymis > fat. These findings from in vivo human and rat studies indicate that acrylamide can be readily absorbed through the skin and distributed throughout the body following dermal exposure.

The potential of acrylamide to pose a skin absorption hazard was also evaluated, with a predictive algorithm for estimating and evaluating the health hazards of dermal exposure to substances [NIOSH 2009]. The evaluation method compares an estimated chemical dose accumulated in the body from skin absorption and an estimated dose from respiratory absorption associated with a reference occupational exposure limit. On the basis of this algorithm, a ratio of the skin dose to the inhalation dose (SI ratio) of 2955 was calculated for acrylamide. An SI ratio of ≥ 0.1 indicates that a chemical is capable of producing systemic toxicity from skin exposure [NIOSH 2009]. Additional information on the SI ratio and the variables used in its calculation are included in the appendix.

No lethal dermal concentration (LDLo) for humans has been identified for acrylamide. However, following studies of rabbits, dermal LD_{50} values (doses resulting in 50% mortality in the exposed population) of 252 to 1102 mg/kg were reported [American Cyanamid Company 1973; Dow Chemical USA 1975]. Because the reported acute dermal LD_{50} values for the rabbit are lower than the critical dermal LD_{50} value of 2000 mg/kg body weight that identifies substances with the potential for acute dermal toxicity [NIOSH 2009], acrylamide is considered acutely toxic following dermal exposure.

Numerous occupational exposure studies and epidemiological investigations have revealed neurotoxic effects in workers exposed to acrylamide. Despite exposures occurring through the inhalation and dermal routes, the contribution of skin contact with acrylamide to onset of the neurological effects was emphasized. He et al. [1989] investigated the onset of neurotoxicity in 71 workers employed at a plant in China. The authors noted symptoms such as weakness and numbness in extremities, preceded by skin peeling, and reported that the total prevalence of acrylamide poisoning among the workers was 73.2%. Three of the cases involving acrylamide were classified as severe poisonings, six as moderate poisonings, and 43 as mild poisonings. The authors concluded that dermal contact contributed significantly to these cases and that dermal exposure to acrylamide should be prevented. NIOSH [1991] reported neurotoxic effects (peripheral neuropathies)

following a latency period of days to weeks in workers who handled 27% to 30% aqueous solutions of acrylamide for 1 to 18 months. Dermatitis, characterized as peeling of skin at the site of contact (in this case, palms), was observed prior to the development of peripheral neuropathies, indicating that skin exposure had occurred. These workers were likely exposed repeatedly through both inhalation and dermal contact, but it is not clear whether the neuropathies were caused by skin absorption of acrylamide. Bachmann et al. [1992] investigated acrylamide exposures among 82 chemical industry workers. A significantly increased prevalence rate for several neurological symptoms, including numbness, limb pain, and sweating, in addition to skin peeling, was reported for acrylamide-exposed workers in comparison with unexposed controls. The results of this study indicate that dermal contact with acrylamide may have contributed to onset of the reported neurological effects. The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) [1994] also reported that acrylamide causes damage to the central nervous system following occupational dermal and respiratory exposure.

A few repeat-dose dermal toxicity studies in animals were identified. Dow Chemical USA [1975] reported that 10 applications of a 50.7% acrylamide solution (amount or frequency of application not specified) to the intact or abraded skin of rabbits did not produce any signs of systemic toxicity. Eastman Kodak Company [1978] reported that 0.5 mL rubbed on the backs of rats each day for 15 days produced no signs of weakness or ataxia during the following 9-month observation period. Drees et al. [1976] reported peripheral neuropathies at a lowest-observed-adverse-effect level (LOAEL) of 50 mg/kg/

day when acrylamide was applied topically to the skin of newborn rabbits for 5 to 12 weeks. The no-observed-adverse-effect level (NOAEL) in this study was 5 mg/ kg/day. A long-term study also identified a NOAEL of 0.5 mg/kg/day when acrylamide was applied to rats' tails (equivalent to 5% body surface area) [Novikova 1979]. This NOAEL was based on pronounced functional neurotoxic effects, characterized by a decrease in motor activity and impaired conditioned reflex response, and a reduction in body weight at 5 mg/kg/day, the LOAEL. On the basis of both the subacute and longer-term animal studies and limited human case reports, it appears that repeated and prolonged dermal exposure to acrylamide may cause systemic effects. Because the NOAELs identified in these studies are potentially lower than the critical dermal NOAEL value of 1000 mg/kg per day for repeat-dose toxicity that identifies substances with the potential for subchronic dermal toxicity [NIOSH 2009], acrylamide is considered to be neurotoxic with repeated dermal exposure.

No standard toxicity or specialty studies were identified that evaluated effects specific to the biological system or biological function (including reproductive and developmental effects and immunotoxicity) following dermal exposure to acrylamide. However, the literature search revealed a genotoxicity study with endpoints (e.g., induction of dominant lethal mutations) that might be considered an indicator of reproductive function. In a mouse dominant lethal study, acrylamide induced a significant increase in the percentage of dead implants per female when male mice were given 5 dermal applications of 25 mg/ kg acrylamide 7 to 10 days prior to mating with female mice [Gutierrez-Espeleta et al. 1992]. Adler et al. [2004] also reported

heritable translocations when male mice were dermally exposed to acrylamide 1 day prior to mating with female mice. These findings suggest that acrylamide has the potential to cause reproductive effects via effects on sperm DNA.

Table 2 provides a summary of carcinogenic designations from multiple governmental and nongovernmental organizations for acrylamide. No evidence of a link between dermal exposures to acrylamide and increased risk of systemic cancers in humans or animals has been identified. It should be noted, however, that the reviewed toxicokinetic data indicate that acrylamide is readily absorbed by the skin and contributes to total body burden [Sumner et al. 2003; Fennell et al. 2006]. For this reason, it is assumed that dermal uptake of acrylamide may contribute to the onset of systemic cancers.

Sufficient information was identified from the toxicokinetic data on humans [Fennell et al. 2006^{*}] and on animals [Sumner et al. 2003]; the predictions of the mathematical algorithm; and the data from acute [American Cyanamid Company 1973; Dow Chemical USA 1975] and repeat-dose [Drees et al. 1976; Novikova 1979; Gutierrez-Espeleta et al. 1992; Adler et al. 2004] dermal toxicity studies in animals to demonstrate that acrylamide is readily absorbed through the skin and can cause systemic effects, including neurotoxicity and reproductive system effects, following dermal exposure. Therefore, on the basis of the data for this assessment, acrylamide is assigned the SK: SYS notation.

^{*}References in **bold** text indicate studies that served as the basis of the SK assignments.

Organization	Carcinogenic designation	
NIOSH [2005]	Potential occupational carcinogen	
NTP [2009]	Reasonably anticipated to be a human carcinogen	
USEPA [2009]	Group B2: Probable human carcinogen (based on sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in animals)	
IARC [1994]	Group 2A: Probably carcinogenic to humans	
EC [2010]	R45: May cause cancer	
ACGIH [2005]	Group A3: Confirmed animal carcinogen with unknown relevance to humans	

Table 2. Summary of the carcinogenic designations* for acrylamide by numerous governmental and nongovernmental organization

Abbreviations: ACGIH = American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists; EC = European Commission, Joint Research, Institute for Health and Consumer Protection; IARC = International Agency for Research on Cancer; NIOSH = National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health; NTP = National Toxicology Program; USEPA = United States Environmental Protection Agency.

*Note: The listed cancer designations were based on data from nondermal (such as oral or inhalation) exposure rather than dermal exposure.

3 Direct Effect(s) on the Skin (SK: DIR)

Numerous occupational studies reporting adverse effects of the skin following dermal contact were identified. He et al. [1989] assessed acrylamide exposures at a factory in China. The authors reported that workers experienced skin peeling attributed to skin contact with acrylamide. Although acrylamide exposures occurred through the inhalation and dermal routes, the authors specifically emphasized that skin contact was not controlled, indicating its impact on the workers. NIOSH [1991] reported similar findings in workers who handled 27% to 30% aqueous solutions of acrylamide for 1 to 18 months. Bachmann et al. [1992] reported an increased prevalence of skin peeling in acrylamideexposed chemical industry workers, in comparison with unexposed controls.

A skin irritation test [American Cyanamid Company 1952] in 25 persons at doses of

1% to 25% acrylamide indicated a doserelated increase in the number and degree of irritant responses, which led the author to conclude that acrylamide is a skin irritant. A limited number of dermal irritation studies in experimental animals were identified. Following a skin irritation study in which a 10% solution of acrylamide was applied repeatedly to the ear and shaved intact abdomen of rabbits with a "cuff" technique, McCollister et al. [1964] reported very slight reddening and slight edema, which healed when the application was stopped. Investigators at Dow Chemical USA [1975] also observed no reactions to a single application of a 50.7% solution of acrylamide to intact skin, but they reported that repeated applications of the solution to intact and abraded skin of rabbits produced reddening. In another study, application of 2.0 milliliters per kilogram (mL/kg) of an 80% saline solution of acrylamide to the shaven abdomen of three rabbits provoked slight irritation in one animal for no more than 48 hours

[American Cyanamid Company 1951]. A study conducted by Mukhtar et al. [1981] reported acrylamide-induced depletion of skin glutathione levels in mice topically exposed to the substance. Those authors concluded that such depletion may cause dermal membrane damage with increased loss of cellular enzymes and increased interactions of reactive metabolites with essential macromolecules, resulting in the dermatitis and irritation of skin observed in acrylamideexposed workers. The structure activity relationship model, Deductive Estimation of Risk from Existing Knowledge (DEREKTM) for Windows, predicted acrylamide to be negative for skin irritation.

Bull et al. [1984a] conducted a skin initiation/promotion assay to investigate the potential for acrylamide to be carcinogenic in mouse skin. In that study, an acrylamide solution in ethanol was administered topically in six doses of 12.5, 25, and 50 mg/ kg/day, resulting in total doses of 75, 150, and 300 mg/kg, respectively, over a 2-week period. Following the topical applications of acrylamide, a known tumor promoter [12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA)] in acetone was applied three times a week for 20 weeks to the shaved backs of test animals. Bull et al. [1984a] reported that the incidences of skin tumors were significantly elevated in a dose-response manner. It should be noted that mice that did not receive the TPA applications did not develop tumors. On the basis of these results, the authors theorized that acrylamide may be capable of acting as a skin tumor initiator.

The reports on occupational cases, studies involving volunteers [American Cyanamid Company 1952], and irritation and other studies in animals [American Cyanamid Company 1951; Mukhtar et al. 1981] have provided limited data indicating that acrylamide is a mild skin irritant. In addition, acrylamide is identified as a potential skin tumor initiator and may increase the risk of skin cancer **[Bull et al. 1984a]**. Therefore, on the basis of the data for this assessment, acrylamide is assigned the SK: DIR (IRR) notation.

4 Immune-mediated Responses (SK: SEN)

On the basis of occupational exposure experience, the information available is insufficient to conclude that acrylamide is a skin sensitizer. The European Commission (EC) [2002] has reviewed two occupational case reports of allergic skin reactions. In one reported case, a laboratory technician developed "itchy, exudative" lesions on the hands and wrist while preparing substrates for polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and despite wearing gloves. The reviews indicated that this individual also developed similar lesions 10 years earlier when working with the same material. In the other report, a student developed eczema 4 months after commencing working with a stock solution for polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis in immunological research, despite using latex gloves. This individual was exposed also to a number of "irritants" (unidentified), N,N'-methylenebis-acrylamide, as well as acrylamide and polyacrylamide [ECB 2002]. The individuals described in both of these case reports had no history of allergies; patch tests were positive, and there was improvement following a change of work in each case.

As indicated above, occupationally exposed workers who handled 27% to 30% aqueous acrylamide solution developed—through dermal contact and inhalation—dermatitis characterized by peeling of the skin at the site of contact (i.e., palms), followed by development of peripheral neuropathies [NIOSH 1991]. However, mixed results were reported following patch testing. For example, the European Union [2002] reported negative results in patchtesting with a standard series, "acrylic and methacrylic allergens," and a series of undefined acrylic and methacrylic allergens. Its review described positive skin reactions with 1% acrylamide in petrolatum after 48 hours and in an individual patch-tested with 5% acrylamide in petrolatum. A positive result in an open test with a solution containing 30% acrylamide and 0.8% N,N'-methylenebis-acrylamide at 2 and 4 days [ECB 2002]. In animals, acrylamide has been observed to cause skin sensitization. In a guinea pig maximization test, acrylamide elicited a positive skin response (in excess of that seen in controls) in 40% of the test animals [Huntingdon Research Center Ltd. 1995]. Eastman Kodak Company [1978] also reported sensitization in three guinea pigs administered a 10% acrylamide solution. The structure-activity relationship model, DEREKTM, predicted acrylamide to be positive for skin sensitization.

Although acrylamide yielded inconsistent results in exposed humans, positive sensitization results from two guinea pig maximization tests [Allan 1995; Eastman Kodak Co. 1978] are sufficient to demonstrate that acrylamide is a skin sensitizer. Therefore, on the basis of the data for this assessment, acrylamide is assigned the SK: SEN notation.

5 Summary

Taken together, data from toxicokinetic studies involving humans [Fennell et al. 2006] and animals [Sumner et al. 2003],

from the predictions of mathematical algorithms, from acute toxicity studies in rabbits [American Cyanamid Company 1973; Dow Chemical USA 1975], and from repeat-dose dermal toxicity studies in animals [Drees et al. 1976; Novikova 1979; Gutierrez-Espeleta et al. 1992; Adler et al. 2004] were sufficient to demonstrate that acrylamide is absorbed through the skin and can cause systemic effects, including neurotoxicity and reproductive system effects, following dermal exposure. On the basis of reports on occupational cases and studies of human volunteers [American Cyanamid Company 1952] and on irritation and other studies in animals [American Cyanamid Company 1951; Mukhtar et al. 1981], there are limited data to indicate that acrylamide is a mild skin irritant. Acrylamide is identified as a potential skin tumor initiator and may increase the risk of skin cancer [Bull et al. 1984]. Although acrylamide yielded inconsistent results in exposed humans, positive sensitization results from two guinea pig maximization tests [Allan 1995; Eastman Kodak Co. 1978] are sufficient to demonstrate that acrylamide is a skin sensitizer. Therefore, on the basis of these assessments, acrylamide is assigned a composite skin notation of SK: SYS-DIR (IRR)-SEN.

Table 3 summarizes the skin hazard designations for acrylamide previously issued by NIOSH and other organizations. The equivalent dermal designations for acrylamide, according to the Globally Harmonizated System (GHS) of Classification and Labeling of Chemicals, are Acute Toxicity Category 4 (Hazard statement: Harmful in contact with the skin), Skin Irritation Category 2 (Hazard statement: Causes skin irritation), and Skin Sensitization Category 1 (Hazard statement: May cause an allergic skin reaction) [European Parliament 2008].

Organization	Skin hazard designation	
NIOSH [2005]	[skin]: Potential for dermal absorption; prevent skin contact	
OSHA [1990]	[skin]: Based on potential contribution to the overall exposure by the cu- taneous route, including the mucous membranes and the eyes, either by airborne route or (more particularly) by direct contact	
ACGIH [2005]	[skin]: Based on the limited data demonstrating toxicity following rapid absorption through intact skin of humans and animals	
EC [2009]	R21: Harmful if in contact with skin	
	R24: Toxic in contact with skin	
	R38: Irritating to skin	
	R43: May cause sensitization by skin contact	

Table 3. Summary of the previously issued skin hazard designations for acrylamide

Abbreviation: ACGIH = American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists; EC = European Commission, Joint Research, Institute for Health and Consumer Protection; NIOSH = National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health; OSHA = Occupational Safety and Health Administration.

Acrylamide has been identified as a Category 1B Mutagen (Hazard statement: May cause genetic defects), a Category 1B Carcinogen (Hazard statement: May cause cancer) and a Category 2 Reproductive toxicant (Hazard statement: Suspected of damaging fertility or the unborn child) [European Parliament 2008].

References

Note: Asterisks (*) denote sources cited in text; daggers (†) denote additional resources.

- *ACGIH (American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists) [2005]. Acrylamide. In: Documentation of threshold limit values and biological exposure indices. 7th ed., Vol. 1. Cincinnati, OH: American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists.
- *Adler ID, Gonda H, Hrabe de Angelis M, Jentsch I, Otten IS, Speicher MR [2004]. Heritable translocations induced by dermal exposure of male mice to acrylamide. Cytogenet Genome Res *104*(1–4):271–276.
- *Allan [1995]. Skin sensitization in the guinea pig. Acrylamide: CT-566-94. Cytec Industries Inc. CTI 2/940899/SS.

- *American Cyanamid Company [1951]. Acute eye, dermal, and oral toxicity. Pittsburgh: American Cyanamid Company, Toxicology and Product Safety Department. On file with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency under TSCA Section 8D. OTS #84003A. Document #878211662.
- *American Cyanamid Company [1952]. Preliminary patch tests with acrylamide in 25 persons. Pittsburgh: American Cyanamid Company, Toxicology and Product Safety Department. On file with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency under TSCA Section 8D. OTS #84003A. Document # 878211663.
- *American Cyanamid Company [1973]. Range finding studies: single oral, single dermal (FHSA), single inhalation. Pittsburgh: American Cyanamid Company, Toxicology and Product Safety Department. On file with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency under TSCA Section 8D. OTS #84003A. Document # 878211677.
- *ATSDR (Agency for Toxic Substance and Disease Registry) [2009]. Toxicological profile for acrylamide: draft for public comment. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, ATSDR [http:// www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp203.html]. Accessed 07–07–10.
- *Bachmann M, Myers JE, Bezuuidenhout BN [1992]. Acrylamide monomer and peripheral neuropathy in chemical workers. Am J Ind Med *21*(2):217–222.

- *Bull RJ, Robinson M, Laurie RD, Stoner GD, Greisiger E, Meier JR, Stober J [1984a]. Carcinogenic effects of acrylamide in Sencar and A/J mice. Cancer Res *44*(1):107–111.
- [†]Bull RJ, Robinson M, Stober JA [1984b]. Carcinogenic activity of acrylamide in the skin and lung of Swiss-ICR mice. Cancer Lett *24*:209–212.
- *Dow Chemical USA [1975]. Acute toxicological properties and industrial handling hazards of a 50% aqueous solution of acrylamide. Midland, MI: Dow Chemical Company. On file with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency under TSCA Section 8D. OTS #0206684. Document #878214838.
- *Drees DT, Crago FL, Hopper CR, Smith JM [1976]. Subchronic percutaneous toxicity of acrylamide and methacrylamide in the newborn rabbit. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol *37*(1):190.
- *Eastman Kodak Company [1978]. Toxicity and health hazard summary. On file with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency under TSCA Section 8D. OTS #0206536. Document #878214376.
- *ECB (European Chemical Bureau) [2002]. European Union risk assessment report: acrylamide. In: Existing chemicals risk assessment report [http://ecb.jrc.it/DOCUMENTS/Existing-Chemicals/RISK_ASSESSMENT/RE-PORT/acrylamidereport011.pdf]. Accessed 07–07–10.
- *EC (European Commission) [2010]. Acrylamide. In: EINICS (European Inventory of Existing Commercial Chemical Substances) [http://ecb. jrc.ec.europa.eu/esis/]. Accessed 07–07–10.
- *European Parliament, Council of the European Union [2008]. Regulation (EC) No 1272/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008 on classification, labelling and packaging of substances and mixtures, amending and repealing Directives 67/548/ EEC and 1999/45/EC, and amending Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006. OJEU, Off J Eur Union L353:1–1355 [http://eur-lex.europa.eu/ LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:3 53:0001:1355:EN:PDF]. Accessed 07–07–10.
- *Fennell TR, Sumner SCJ, Snyder RW, Burgess J, Friedman MA [2006]. Kinetics of elimination of urinary metabolites of acrylamide in humans. Toxicol Sci *93*(2):256–267.

- *Gutierrez-Espeleta GA, Hughes LA, Piegorsch W, Shelby MD, Generoso WM [1992]. Acrylamide: dermal exposure produces genetic damage in male mouse germ cells. Fund Appl Toxicol 18(2):189–192.
- *He F, Zhang S, Wang H, Li G, Zhang ZM, Li FL, Dong XM, Hu FR [1989]. Neurological and electroneuromyographic assessment of the adverse effects of acrylamide on occupationally exposed workers. Scand J Work Environ Health 15:125–129.
- *Huntingdon Research Centre Ltd. [1995]. Acrylamide skin sensitization in the guinea pig. Huntingdon, Cambridgeshire, England: Huntingdon Research Centre Ltd. CTI 2/940899/55.
- *IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer) [2009]. Summaries & evaluations: acrylamide [http://www.inchem.org/documents/ iarc/vol60/m60-11.html]. Accessed 07–07–10.
- *Keeler P, Betso J, Yakel H [1975]. Acute toxicological properties and industrial handling hazards of a 50.7% aqueous solution of acrylamide. Midland, MI: Dow Chemical USA.
- *McCollister D, Oyen F, Rowe V [1964]. Toxicology of acrylamide. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol *6*:172–181.
- †Mercier O [1997a]. Acrylamide: primary cutaneous irritation and corrosivity test in the rabbit. Report No. 59996. Les Oncins, L'Arbresle, France: Chrysalis Preclinical Services.
- *Mukhtar H, Dixit R, Seth P [1981]. Reduction in cutaneous and hepatic glutathione contents, glutathione-*S*-transferases and aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase activities following topical application of acrylamide to mouse. Toxicol Lett 9(2):153–156.
- †NIOSH (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health) [1976]. Criteria for recommended standard: occupational exposure to acrylamide. Cincinnati, OH: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 77–112 [http://www.cdc.gov/ niosh/77-112.html]. Accessed 07–07–10.
- *NIOSH [1991]. NIOH and NIOSH basis for an occupational health standard. Acrylamide: a review of the literature. Cincinnati, OH: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 91– 115 [http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/91-115.html]. Accessed 07–07–10.

- *NIOSH [2005]. NIOSH pocket guide to chemical hazards. Cincinnati, OH: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 2005–149 [http:// www.cdc.gov/niosh/npg/]. Accessed 07–07–10.
- *NIOSH [2009]. Current intelligence bulletin 61: a strategy for assigning new NIOSH skin notations. Cincinnati, OH: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 2009–147 [http:// www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2009-147/pdfs/2009-147.pdf]. Accessed 07–07–10.
- *Novikova EE [1979]. Toxic effect of acrylamide after entering through the skin [in Russian]. Gig Sanit 10:73–74.
- *NTP (National Toxicology Program) [2009]. Substance profile: acrylamide. In: Report on carcinogens, 11th Ed. [http://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/roc/

eleventh/profiles/s003acry.pdf]. Accessed 07–07–10.

- *OSHA [1990]. OSHA hazard information bulletins: acrylamide exposure during chemical grouting operations. In: OSHA hazard information bulletins [http://www.osha.gov/dts/hib/hib_data/ hib19900727.html]. Accessed 07–07–10.
- *Sumner S, Williams C, Snyder R, Krol W, Asgharian B, Fennell T [2003]. Acrylamide: a comparison of metabolism and hemoglobin adducts in rodents following dermal, intraperitoneal, oral, or inhalation exposure. Toxicol Sci 75(2):260–270.
- *UNECE (United Nations Economic Commission for Europe) [2007]. Part 3: health hazards. In: Globally harmonized system of classification and labelling of chemicals (GHS), 2nd rev. ed. [http://www.unece.org/trans/danger/publi/ghs/ ghs_rev02/02files_e.html]. Accessed 07–07–10.
- *USEPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency) [2009]. Integrated risk information system (IRIS). [http://www.epa.gov/ncea/ iris/]. Accessed 07–07–10.

Appendix: Calculation of the SI Ratio for Acrylamide

This appendix presents an overview of the ratio of skin dose to inhalation dose (SI ratio) and a summary of the calculation of the SI ratio for acrylamide. Although the SI ratio is included within the determination of a substance's hazard potential following skin contact, it is intended only to serve as supportive data during the assignment of the NIOSH SK. An in-depth discussion on the rationale and calculation of the SI ratio can be located in Appendix B of the *Current Intelligence Bulletin (CIB)* 61: A Strategy for Assigning New NIOSH Skin Notations [NIOSH 2009].

Overview

The SI ratio is a predictive algorithm for estimating and evaluating the health hazards of skin exposure to substances. The algorithm is designed to evaluate the potential for a substance to penetrate the skin and induce systemic toxicity [NIOSH 2009]. The goals for incorporating this algorithm into the proposed strategy for assigning SYS notation are as follows:

- 1. Provide an alternative method to evaluate substances for which no clinical reports or animal toxicity studies exist or for which empirical data are insufficient to determine systemic effects.
- 2. Use the algorithm evaluation results to determine whether a substance poses a skin absorption hazard and should be labeled with the SYS notation.

The algorithm evaluation includes three steps: (1) determining a skin permeation coefficient (K_p) for the substance of interest, (2) estimating substance uptake by the skin and respiratory absorption routes, and (3) evaluating whether the substance

poses a skin exposure hazard.

The algorithm is flexible in the data requirement and can operate entirely on the basis of the physicochemical properties of a substance and the relevant exposure parameters. Thus, the algorithm is independent of the need for biologic data. Alternatively, it can function with both the physicochemical properties and the experimentally determined permeation coefficient when such data are available and appropriate for use.

The first step in the evaluation is to determine the K_p for the substance to describe the transdermal penetration rate of the substance [NIOSH 2009]. The K_p , which represents the overall diffusion of the substance through the stratum corneum and into the blood capillaries of the dermis, is estimated from the compound's molecular weight (MW) and base-10 logarithm of its octanol-water partition coefficient (log K_{ow}). In this example, K_{p} is determined for a substance with use of Equation 1. A selfconsistent set of units must be used, such as centimeters per hour (cm/hr), outlined in Table A1. Other model-based estimates of K_p may also be used [NIOSH 2009].

Equation 1: Calculation of Skin Permeation Coefficient (K_p)



where K_{psc} is the permeation coefficient in the lipid fraction of the stratum corneum, K_{pol} is the coefficient in the protein fraction of the stratum corneum, and kaq is the coefficient in the watery epidermal layer. These components are individually estimated by

$$\label{eq:kpsc} \begin{split} \log \, K_{\rm psc} &= -1.326 + 0.6097 \times \log \, K_{\rm ow} - \\ & 0.1786 \times {\rm MW}\, 0.5 \end{split}$$

$$\label{eq:kpsc} K_{\rm pol} &= 0.0001519 \times {\rm MW}^{-0.5} \\ K_{\rm aq} &= 2.5 \times {\rm MW}^{-0.5} \end{split}$$

The second step is to calculate the biologic mass uptake of the substance from skin absorption (skin dose) and inhalation (inhalation dose) during the same period of exposure. The skin dose is calculated as a mathematical product of the K_p , the water solubility (S_W) of the substance, the exposed skin surface area, and the duration of exposure. Its units are milligrams (mg). Assume that the skin exposure continues for 8 hours to unprotected skin on the palms of both hands (a surface area of 360 cm²).

Equation 2: Determination of Skin Dose

- Skin dose = $K_p \times S_w \times Exposed$ skin surface area × Exposure time
 - $= K_p(cm/hr) \times S_w (mg/cm^3) \times 360 cm^2 \times 8 hours$

The inhalation dose (in mg) is derived on the basis of the occupational exposure limit (OEL) of the substance—if the OEL is developed to prevent the occurrence of systemic effects rather than sensory/irritant effects or direct effects on the respiratory tract. Assume a continuous exposure of 8 hours, an inhalation volume of 10 cubic meters (m³) inhaled air in 8 hours, and a factor of 75% for retention of the airborne substance in the lungs during respiration (retention factor, or RF).

Equation 3: Determination of Inhalation Dose

Inhalation dose = OEL × Inhalation volume × RF = OEL (mg/m³) × 10 m³ × 0.75

The final step is to compare the calculated skin and inhalation doses and to present the result as a ratio of skin dose to inhalation dose (the SI ratio). This ratio quantitatively indicates (1) the significance of dermal absorption as a route of occupational exposure to the substance and (2) the contribution of dermal uptake to systemic toxicity. If a substance has an SI ratio greater than or equal to 0.1, it is considered a skin absorption hazard.

Calculation

Table A1 summaries the data applied in the previously described equations to determine the SI ratio for acrylamide. The calculated SI ratio was 2,955. On the basis of these results, acrylamide is predicted to represent a skin absorption hazard.

Appendix References

- NIOSH [2005]. NIOSH pocket guide to chemical hazards. Cincinnati, OH: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 2005–149 [http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/npg/]. Accessed 07–07–10.
- NIOSH [2009]. Current intelligence bulletin: a strategy for assigning new NIOSH skin notations. Cincinnati, OH: Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 2009–147 [http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2009-147/ pdfs/2009-147.pdf]. Accessed 07–07–10.
- SRC [2009]. Interactive PhysProp database demo [http://www.srcinc.com/what-we-do/databaseforms.aspx?id=386]. Accessed 12–02–09.

Variables used in calculation	Units	Value
Skin permeation coefficient		
Permeation coefficient of stratum corneum lipid path (K_{psc})	cm/hr	0.00058
Permeation coefficient of the protein fraction of the stratum corneum $(K_{\mbox{\scriptsize pol}})$	cm/hr	1.80171×10^{-5}
Permeation coefficient of the watery epidermal layer (K_{aq})	cm/hr	0.29653
Molecular weight (MW)*	amu	71.08
Base-10 logarithm of its octanol–water partition coefficient (Log K_{OW})*	None	-0.67
Calculated skin permeation coefficient (K_p)	cm/hr	0.00059
Skin dose		
Water solubility $(S_w)^*$	mg/cm ³	390
Calculated skin permeation coefficient (K_p)	cm/hr	0.00059
Estimated skin surface area (palms of hand)	cm^2	360
Exposure time	hr	8
Calculated skin dose	mg	664.86
Inhalation Dose		
Occupational exposure limit (OEL) [†]	mg/m ³	0.03
Inhalation volume	m ³	10
Retention factor (RF)	None	0.75
Inhalation dose	mg	0.2
Skin dose-to-inhalation dose (SI) ratio	None	2954.93

Table A1. Summary of data used to calculate the SI ratio for acrylamide^{*} variables identified from SRC [2009].

*The OEL used in calculation of the SI ratio was the NIOSH recommended exposure limit (REL) [NIOSH 2005].



DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES Centers for Disease Control and Prevention National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health 4676 Columbia Parkway Cincinnati, Ohio 45226–1998

Official Business Penalty for Private Use \$300